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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549
____________________ 

FORM 10-K/A
(Amendment No.1)

☑  ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017

OR

  ❑  TRANSACTION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
FOR THE TRANSITION PERIOD FROM            TO           .

Commission File Number 0-26068
____________________

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)
 

DELAWARE 95-4405754
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer
incorporation organization) Identification No.)

  
520 NEWPORT CENTER DRIVE, 12TH FLOOR  

NEWPORT BEACH, CA 92660
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: (949) 480-8300

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:
 

Title of Each Class  Name of Each Exchange on Which Registered
Common Stock, $0.001 par value The NASDAQ Stock Market, LLC

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None
____________________

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities
Act.   Yes £ No R
   

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act. Yes £  No  R

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to filing requirements
for the past 90 days.   Yes R  No £
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Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File
required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T(§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter
period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files).   Yes R No £

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K (§229.405 of this chapter) is not contained herein, and
will not be contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or
any amendment to this Form 10-K.  R

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company, or an
emerging growth company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” “smaller reporting company” and “emerging growth company” in
Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act:

Large accelerated filer  ❑  Accelerated filer  ☑  
Non-accelerated filer  ❑ (Do not check if a smaller reporting company)  Smaller reporting company  ❑  
  Emerging growth company  ❑  
If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or
revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act.  ❑  
 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act).   Yes  £  No  R

The aggregate market value of the registrant’s voting and non-voting common stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant on June 30, 2017, the last
business day of the registrant’s most recently completed second fiscal quarter, computed by reference to the last sale price of the registrant’s common stock as
reported by The Nasdaq Global Select Market on such date, was approximately $202,307,000. This computation assumes that all executive officers and
directors are affiliates of the registrant. Such assumption should not be deemed conclusive for any other purpose.

As of March 1, 2018, 50,637,882 shares of common stock were issued and outstanding.
 

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
 

In accordance with General Instruction G(3) to Form 10-K, portions of the registrant’s Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A for its Annual Meeting
of Stockholders to be filed with the Commission within 120 days after the close of the fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K are incorporated
by reference into Part III of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Only those portions of the proxy statement that are specifically incorporated by reference herein
shall constitute a part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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EXPLANATORY NOTE

Acacia Research Corporation is filing this Amendment No. 1 on Form 10-K/A (“Amended 10-K”) to its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2017 (“Original 10-K”) filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) on March 7, 2018 to include the financial statements and
related notes of Veritone, Inc. (“Veritone”), an unconsolidated investment of ours. We made our initial investment in Veritone in August 2016.

We own a 25% non-controlling interest in Veritone. Upon becoming eligible for the equity method of accounting, Acacia elected to apply the fair value
option to account for its equity investment in Veritone, including all of its investments in Veritone common stock and common stock purchase warrants. Rule 3-09
of Regulation S-X under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, provides that if a 50 percent-or-less-owned person accounted for by the equity
method meets the first or third condition of the significant subsidiary tests set forth in Rule 1-02(w) of Regulation S-X, substituting 20 percent for 10 percent,
separate financial statements for such 50 percent-or-less-owned person shall be filed. In applying Rule 3-09 and 4-08(g) disclosure thresholds to investments
that would have been accounted for under the equity method had the fair value option not been elected, the income test is computed using as the numerator the
change in the fair value reflected in the registrant’s income statement rather than the registrant’s equity in the earnings of the investee computed as if the equity
method had been applied. Veritone met the significant subsidiary test described above for fiscal year ended December 31, 2017. The financial statements
required by S-X 3-09 are required to be filed within 90 days after our December 31, 2017 fiscal year-end, or by April 2, 2018. Our Original 10-K is being
amended by this Amended 10-K to include as exhibits: (i) the Veritone audited financial statements for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016
prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States; (ii) the consent of the independent auditor of Veritone; and (iii)
certifications by our President and Chief Financial Officer. Although we are providing full year audited financial statements of Veritone for the fiscal years ended
December 31, 2017 and 2016, our initial investment in Veritone was made in August 2016. Accordingly, the audited financial statements of Veritone for the fiscal
year ended December 2016 are not reflective of our investment in Veritone, which existed for only a portion of fiscal year 2016.

Except as stated in this Explanatory Note, this Amended 10-K does not update any exhibits as originally filed and does not otherwise reflect events that
occurred after the filing date of the Original 10-K.
 
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a)    The following documents are filed as part of this report.
(1)  Financial Statements            

The following financial statements of Acacia Research Corporation, as listed in Item 15 of the Original 10-K, are included in Item 8 of the Original 10-K:

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2017 and 2016
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the Years Ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

                
(2)   Financial Statement Schedules    

        
Financial statement schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or the required information is shown in our consolidated financial statements or
the notes thereto.

The financial statements of Veritone required by Rule 3-09 of Regulation S-X are provided as Exhibit 99.1 to this Amended 10-K.
        

(3)  Exhibits    
        

Refer to Item 15(b) below.    

(b)    Exhibits.  The following exhibits are either filed herewith or incorporated herein by reference:
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Exhibit
Number Description

  
2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated November 22, 2011, by and among Acacia Research Group LLC, Apollo Patent Corp., Adaptix, Inc., and

Baker Communications Fund II (QP), L.P., solely in its capacity as representative for the shareholders of Adaptix, Inc.(15)
3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (1)
3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws (20)
4.1 Tax Benefits Preservation Plan, dated as of March 16, 2016, by and between Acacia Research Corporation and Computershare Inc., as Rights

Agent, which includes the form of Certificate of Designation of Series A Cumulative Participating Preferred Stock as Exhibit A, the Form of Right
Certificate as Exhibit B and the Summary of Terms as Exhibit C (23)

10.1* Acacia Research Corporation 1996 Stock Option Plan, as amended (2)
10.2* Form of Option Agreement constituting the Acacia Research Corporation 1996 Executive Stock Bonus Plan (3)
10.3* 2002 Acacia Technologies Stock Incentive Plan (4)
10.4* 2007 Acacia Technologies Stock Incentive Plan (5)
10.5* Form of Acacia Technologies Stock Option Agreement under the 2007 Acacia Technologies Stock Incentive Plan (6)
10.6* Form of Acacia Technologies Stock Issuance Agreement under the 2002 Acacia Technologies Stock Incentive Plan (6)
10.7* Form of Acacia Technologies Stock Issuance Agreement under the 2007 Acacia Technologies Stock Incentive Plan (6)
10.8 Office Space Lease dated January 28, 2002, between Acacia Research Corporation and The Irvine Company (7)
10.9 Form of Indemnification Agreement (8)
10.10 Third Amendment to Lease dated January 28, 2002 between Acacia Research Corporation and the Irvine Company (9)
10.11* Employment Agreement, dated September 22, 2015, by and between Acacia Research Group LLC and Edward Treska (19)
10.12 Fourth Amendment to Lease dated January 28, 2002 between Acacia Research Corporation and the Irvine Company (10)
10.13 Fifth Amendment to Lease dated January 28, 2002 between Acacia Research Corporation and the Irvine Company (10)
10.15* Employment Agreement, dated September 22, 2015, by and between Acacia Research Group LLC and Robert L. Harris (19)
10.16* Employment Agreement, dated September 22, 2015, by and between Acacia Research Group LLC and Clayton J. Haynes (19)
10.17* Acacia Research Corporation Amended and Restated Executive Severance Policy (12)
10.18 Sixth Amendment to Lease dated January 28, 2002 between Acacia Research Corporation and the Irvine Company (14)
10.19 Form of Purchase Agreement (16)
10.20* 2013 Acacia Research Corporation Stock Incentive Plan (17)
10.21* Form of Stock Issuance Agreement under the 2013 Acacia Research Corporation Stock Incentive Plan (18)
10.22* Employment Agreement, dated September 22, 2015, by and between Acacia Research Group LLC and Matthew Vella (19)
10.23* 2016 Acacia Research Corporation Stock Incentive Plan (21)

10.24* Form of Stock Option Agreement under the 2016 Acacia Research Corporation Stock Incentive Plan (24)

10.25* Form of Stock Issuance Agreement under the 2016 Acacia Research Corporation Stock Incentive Plan (24)
10.26* Director Service Agreement, dated February 29, 2016, by and between Acacia Research Corporation and Robert L. Harris (22)

10.27* Employment Agreement, dated September 18, 2017, by and between Acacia Research Group LLC and Robert Stewart (25)
10.28*  Form of Profits Interest Agreement Under AIP Operation LLC Profits Interest Plan (26)
10.29 Investment Agreement dated August 15, 2016, by and between Acacia Research Corporation and Veritone, Inc. (27)
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http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/934549/000101968712000172/acacia_8ka1-ex0201.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/934549/000101968708002573/acacia_8k-ex3.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/934549/000101968716005587/acacia_ex0301.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/934549/000101968716005525/acacia_8k-ex0401.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/934549/000091205700018871/0000912057-00-018871.txt
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/934549/0000902595-96-000039.txt
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/934549/000101968702002064/acacia_s4a6-110702.txt
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/934549/000101968707002209/acacia_s8-ex9901.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/934549/000101968707003720/acacia_10q-ex1002.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/934549/000101968707003720/acacia_10q-ex1003.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/934549/000101968707003720/acacia_10q-ex1004.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/934549/000101968702000426/acacia_ex10-12.txt
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/934549/000093454912000022/formofindemnificationagree.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/934549/000101968706001103/acacia_10q-ex1001.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/934549/000093454915000060/ex10409302015.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/934549/000101968708001103/acacia_10k-ex1021.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/934549/000101968708001103/acacia_10k-ex1022.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/934549/000093454915000060/ex10109302015.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/934549/000093454915000060/ex10309302015.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/934549/000101968709000666/acro_10k-ex1026.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/934549/000093454911000005/actgex1027123110.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/934549/000119312512064435/d302610dex101.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/934549/000101968713001465/acacia_def14a.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/934549/000101968713002041/acacia_8k-ex1002.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/934549/000093454915000060/ex10209302015.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/934549/000093454916000146/ex101.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/934549/000093454917000006/actgex1024123116.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/934549/000093454917000006/actgex1025123116.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/934549/000093454916000096/harris-agreement.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/934549/000093454917000055/ex10109302017.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/934549/000093454917000019/ex10103312017.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/934549/000093454917000008/exhibit101.htm


10.30 Secured Promissory Note dated August 15, 2016, issued by Veritone, Inc. to Acacia Research Corporation (27)
10.31 Primary Common Stock Purchase Warrant dated August 15, 2016, issued by Veritone, Inc. to Acacia Research Corporation, together with form of

10% Warrant to Purchase Common Stock (27)
10.32 Common Stock Purchase Warrant dated August 15, 2016, issued by Veritone, Inc. to Acacia Research Corporation (27)
10.33 Common Stock Purchase Warrant dated November 25, 2016, issued by Veritone, Inc. to Acacia Research Corporation (27)
10.34 Common Stock Purchase Warrant dated November 25, 2016, issued by Veritone, Inc. to Acacia Research Corporation (27)
21.1 List of Subsidiaries (28)
23.1 Consent of Grant Thornton LLP (28)
23.2 Consent of Marcum LLP
24.1 Power of Attorney (included in the signature page hereto).
31.3† Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
31.4† Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
32.3 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b)/15d-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and 18 U.S.C. Section 1350
32.4 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b)/15d-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and 18 U.S.C. Section 1350
99.1 Financial Statements of Veritone, Inc.
101 Interactive Date Files Pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T. (28)
 ___________________________

* The referenced exhibit is a management contract, compensatory plan or arrangement required to be filed as an exhibit to this Annual Report on Form 10-K
pursuant to Item 15(c) of Form 10-K.

† The certifications attached as Exhibits 32.1 and 32.2 that accompany this Annual Report on Form 10-K are not deemed filed with the SEC and are not to be
incorporated by reference into any filing of Acacia Research Corporation under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended, whether made before or after the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, regardless of any general incorporation language contained in
any filing.

(1) Incorporated by reference to Acacia Research Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 5, 2008 (File No. 000-26068).

(2) Incorporated by reference to Appendix A to Acacia Research Corporation’s Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed on April 20, 2000 (File No.
000-26068).

(3) Incorporated by reference to Appendix A to Acacia Research Corporation’s Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed on April 26, 1996 (File No.
000-26068).

(4) Incorporated by reference to Annex E to the Proxy Statement/Prospectus which formed part of Acacia Research Corporation’s Registration Statement on
Form S-4 (File No. 333-87654) which became effective on November 8, 2002.

(5) Incorporated by reference to Acacia Research Corporation’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-144754) which became effective on July
20, 2007.

(6) Incorporated by reference to Acacia Research Corporation’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2007, filed on
November 2, 2007 (File No. 000-26068).

(7) Incorporated by reference to Acacia Research Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10‑K for the year ended December 31, 2001, filed on March 27,
2002 (File No. 000‑26068).
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http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/934549/000093454917000008/exhibit102promissorynote.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/934549/000093454917000008/exhibit103primarywarre58.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/934549/000093454917000008/exhibit104firsttranch470.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/934549/000093454917000008/exhibit105firsttranchewa.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/934549/000093454917000008/exhibit106secondtranchew.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/934549/000093454918000007/actgex211123117.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/934549/000093454918000007/actgex231123117.htm
ex232.htm
ex313.htm
ex314.htm
ex323.htm
ex324.htm
ex991veritonefs.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/934549/000093454918000007/actg-20171231.xml


(8) Incorporated by reference to Acacia Research Corporation’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2012, filed on July 30, 2012
(File No. 000-26068).

(9) Incorporated by reference to Acacia Research Corporation’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2006, filed on May 10, 2006
(File No. 000‑26068).

(10) Incorporated by reference to Acacia Research Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007, filed on March 14,
2008 (File No. 000-26068).

(11) Incorporated by reference to Acacia Research Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 2, 2008 (File No. 000-26068).

(12) Incorporated by reference to Acacia Research Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008, filed on February 26,
2009 (File No. 000-26068).

(13) Incorporated by reference to Acacia Research Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009, filed on February 26,
2010, as amended on March 1, 2010 (File No. 000-26068).

(14) Incorporated by reference to Acacia Research Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2010, filed on February 28,
2011, as amended on March 24, 2011 (File No. 000-26068).

(15) Incorporated by reference to Acacia Research Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K/A filed on January 19, 2012 (File No. 000-26068). Portions of
this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment under Rule 24-b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
The omitted material has been separately filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

(16) Incorporated by reference to Acacia Research Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 16, 2012 (File No. 000-26068).

(17) Incorporated by reference to Appendix A to Acacia Research Corporation’s Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed on April 24, 2013 (File No.
000-26068).

(18) Incorporated by reference to Acacia Research Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 22, 2013 (File No. 000-26068).

(19) Incorporated by reference to Acacia Research Corporation’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2015, filed on
November 9, 2015 (File No. 000-26068).

(20) Incorporated by reference to Acacia Research Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 28, 2016 (File No. 001-37721).

(21) Incorporated by reference to Acacia Research Corporation’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2016, filed on August 9, 2016
(File No. 001-37721).

(22) Incorporated by reference to Acacia Research Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 4, 2016 (File No. 000-26068).

(23) Incorporated by reference to Acacia Research Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 21, 2016 (File No. 000-26068).

(24) Incorporated by reference to Acacia Research Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016, filed on March 10,
2017 (File No. 001-37721).

(25) Incorporated by reference to Acacia Research Corporation’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2017, filed on
November 7, 2017 (File No. 001-37721).

(26) Incorporated by reference to Acacia Research Corporation’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2017, filed on May 10, 2017
(File No. 001-37721).
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(27) Incorporated by reference to Acacia Research Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 16, 2017 (File No. 001-37721).

(28) Incorporated by reference to Acacia Research Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 7, 2018 (File No. 001-37721).
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
 

   ACACIA RESEARCH CORPORATION  
     
Dated: April 2, 2018 By: /s/ Robert Stewart  

   Robert Stewart  
 

 
 President

 (Authorized Signatory)
 

 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
registrant and the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature   Title  Date
      
/s/ Robert Stewart  President  April 2, 2018

 Robert Stewart  (Principal Executive Officer)   
      
/s/ Clayton J. Haynes  Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer  April 2, 2018

 Clayton J. Haynes    (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)   
      
/s/ *  Director  April 2, 2018

 Fred A. de Boom     
      
/s/ *  Director  April 2, 2018

 Edward W. Frykman     
      
/s/ *  Executive Chairman and Director  April 2, 2018

 G. Louis Graziadio, III     
      
/s/ *  Director  April 2, 2018

 William S. Anderson     
      
/s/ *  Director  April 2, 2018

 Frank E. Walsh, III     
      
/s/ *  Director  April 2, 2018

 James F. Sanders     
      

/s/ Paul Falzone  Director  April 2, 2018

 Paul Falzone     
      

/s/ Joseph E. Davis  Director  April 2, 2018

 Joseph E. Davis     

*By: /s/ Clayton J. Haynes     

 Clayton J. Haynes     
 Attorney-in-Fact     
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EXHIBIT 23.2

INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM'S CONSENT

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Annual Report of Acacia Research Corporation on Form 10-K/A of our report dated March 9, 2018,  with
respect to our audits of the consolidated financial statements of Veritone, Inc. as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 and for the years then ended, which report is
included in the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Veritone, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2017.

/s/ Marcum LLP

Marcum LLP
Irvine
April 2, 2018
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EXHIBIT 31.3
 

CERTIFICATION
 

I, Robert Stewart, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K/A of Acacia Research Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over
financial reporting.

 

Dated: April 2, 2018 /s/ Robert Stewart

  

Robert Stewart
President

(Principal Executive Officer)
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EXHIBIT 31.4
 

CERTIFICATION
 

I, Clayton J. Haynes, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K/A of Acacia Research Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over
financial reporting.

Dated: April 2, 2018 /s/ Clayton J. Haynes

  

Clayton J. Haynes
Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)
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EXHIBIT 32.3
 

CERTIFICATION

In connection with the Annual Report of Acacia Research Corporation (the “Company”) on Form 10-K/A for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017, as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 2, 2018 (the “Report”), I, Robert Stewart, President of the Company, certify, pursuant to Rule 13a-
14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or 780(d)) and 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that to the best of my knowledge:

1.    The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2.    The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

 

 

 

 By: /s/ Robert Stewart

  Robert Stewart
  President
  April 2, 2018

This certification accompanies this Report pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350 and shall not be deemed filed by the Company for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
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EXHIBIT 32.4
 

CERTIFICATION

In connection with the Annual Report of Acacia Research Corporation (the “Company”) on Form 10-K/A for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017, as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 2, 2018 (the “Report”), I, Clayton J. Haynes, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify,
pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or 780(d)) and 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that to the best of
my knowledge:

1.    The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2.    The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

 

 
 

 By: /s/ Clayton J. Haynes

  Clayton J. Haynes
  Chief Financial Officer
  April 2, 2018

This certification accompanies this Report pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350 and shall not be deemed filed by the Company for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of Veritone, Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Veritone, Inc. (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the related
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity (deficit) and cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended
December 31, 2017, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the
two years in the period ended December 31, 2017, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”) and
are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the
Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to
have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of
internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and
performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Marcum LLP

/s/ Marcum LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2016.

Irvine, California
March 9, 2018
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VERITONE, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except per share and share data)

 

       As of December 31,

 2017  2016

ASSETS      
Cash and cash equivalents $ 29,545  $ 12,078

Marketable securities  39,598   —

Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $38 and $0, respectively  7,691   4,834

Expenditures billable to clients  4,163   3,384

Prepaid expenses and other current assets  2,808   1,071

Total current assets  83,805   21,367

Property, equipment and improvements, net  680   68

Intangible assets, net  3,026   —

Other assets  1,047   913

      Total assets $ 88,558  $ 22,348

      LIABILITIES, REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK, AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)      
Accounts payable $ 13,338  $ 12,321

Accrued media payments  5,999   6,777

Client advances  3,477   1,841

Other accrued liabilities  4,442   3,060

Convertible note payable, net of discounts and issuance costs of $0 and $6,898, respectively  —   13,388

Warrant liability  —   7,114

Total current liabilities  27,256   44,501

Other liabilities  —   22

Total liabilities  27,256   44,523

Commitments and contingencies (Note 7)      
Redeemable convertible preferred stock:      

Series B Preferred Stock, par value $0.001 per share; no shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2017,
and 3,092,781 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2016 (aggregate liquidation preference of
$18,138 at December 31, 2016)  —   17,897

Series A Preferred Stock, par value $0.001 per share; no shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2017,
and 5,666,667 shares authorized, 3,914,697 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2016 (aggregate liquidation
preference of $8,353 at December 31, 2016)  —   5,453

Total redeemable convertible preferred stock  —   23,350

Stockholders’ equity (deficit):      
Preferred stock, par value $0.001 per share, 1,000,000 shares authorized at December 31, 2017; no shares issued and

outstanding at December 31, 2017  —   —

Common stock, par value $0.001 per share; 75,000,000 and 38,500,000 shares authorized at December 31, 2017 and 2016,
respectively; 16,158,883 and 2,620,803 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively  16   4

Additional paid-in capital  170,728   (293)

Accumulated deficit  (109,307)   (45,236)

Accumulated other comprehensive loss  (135)   —

Total stockholders’ equity (deficit)  61,302   (45,525)

      Total liabilities, redeemable convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ equity (deficit) $ 88,558  $ 22,348

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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VERITONE, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(in thousands, except per share and share data)

 

      
 

For the Years Ended
December 31,

 2017  2016

Net revenues $ 14,413  $ 8,911
Cost of revenues  1,070   1,577
      Gross profit  13,343   7,334
      Operating expenses:      

Sales and marketing  14,699   8,279
Research and development  13,970   7,900
General and administrative  31,436   14,935

      Total operating expenses  60,105   31,114
      Loss from operations  (46,762)   (23,780)
Other expense, net  (12,833)   (3,193)
      Loss before provision for income taxes  (59,595)   (26,973)
Provision for income taxes  6   6
      Net loss  (59,601)   (26,979)
Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred stock  (4,470)   (3,204)
      Net loss attributable to common stockholders $ (64,071)  $ (30,183)
      Basic and diluted net loss per share $ (6.20)  $ (14.59)
      Weighted-average shares used to compute basic and diluted net loss per share  10,332,593   2,068,334
      Comprehensive loss:      

Net loss $ (59,601)  $ (26,979)
Unrealized loss on marketable securities, net of income taxes  (134)   —
Foreign currency translation adjustments, net of income taxes  (1)   —

      Total comprehensive loss $ (59,736)  $ (26,979)
      

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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VERITONE, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)
(in thousands, except share data)

 

                 

 

 Common Stock  
Additional

Paid-in
Capital

 

Accumulated
Deficit

 Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss Total Shares  Amount    

Balance as of December 31, 2015  1,301,249  $ 2  $ (4,527)  $ (15,053)  $ — $ (19,578)
Stock issued to dissenting stockholder  106,420   —   159   —   —  159
Exercise of options  51,504   —   77   —   —  77
Issuance of warrants  —   —   458   —   —  458
Beneficial conversion feature  —   —   1,812   —   —  1,812
Stock-based compensation expense  961,835   2   1,728   —   —  1,730
Restricted stock issued  199,795   —   —   —   —  —
Accretion of redeemable convertible

preferred stock  —   —   —   (3,204)   —  (3,204)
Net loss  —   —   —   (26,979)   —  (26,979)
                 Balance as of December 31, 2016  2,620,803   4   (293)   (45,236)   —  (45,525)
Common stock offerings  3,621,250   4   56,338   —   —  56,342
Conversion of Series B preferred stock  2,309,135   2   18,666   —   —  18,668
Conversion of Series A preferred stock  2,922,798   3   8,595   —   —  8,598
Exercise of Primary Warrant  2,150,335   2   29,261   —   —  29,263
Conversion of Acacia Note and accrued

interest  1,523,746   1   20,736   —   —  20,737
Conversion of Bridge Loan and accrued

interest  590,717   —   8,045   —   —  8,045
Common stock issued to Bridge Loan

Lenders  300,000   —   3,666   —   —  3,666
Restricted stock issued, net of forfeitures

and shares withheld for taxes upon
vesting  22,963   —   (33)   —   —  (33)

Common stock repurchased  (7,500)   —   (56)   —   —  (56)
Exercise of options  80,829   —   131   —   —  131
Issuance of warrants  —   —   8,658   —   —  8,658
Beneficial conversion feature  —   —   554   —   —  554
Modification of warrants  —   —   371   —   —  371
Stock-based compensation expense  23,807   —   16,089   —   —  16,089
Accretion of redeemable convertible

preferred stock  —   —   —   (4,470)   —  (4,470)
Net loss  —   —   —   (59,601)   —  (59,601)
Other comprehensive loss  —   —   —   —   (135)  (135)
                 Balance as of December 31, 2017  16,158,883  $ 16  $ 170,728  $ (109,307)  $ (135) $ 61,302
                 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
 

4

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



VERITONE, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

 

 
For the Years Ended

December 31,

 2017  2016

Cash flows from operating activities:      
Net loss $ (59,601)  $ (26,979)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:      
Depreciation and amortization  253   151

Intangible asset impairment charges  —   500

Amortization of debt discounts and issuance costs  3,740   3,604

Costs of warrants issued at IPO  5,790   —

Write-off of debt discounts and issuance costs at IPO  10,132   —

Change in fair value of warrant liability  (7,114)   (950)

Stock issued to dissenting shareholder  —   159

Stock-based compensation expense  16,089   1,730

Provision for doubtful accounts  107   —

Changes in assets and liabilities:      
Accounts receivable  (2,964)   1,257

Expenditures billable to clients  (779)   (2,164)

Prepaid expenses and other current assets  (1,620)   (305

Accounts payable  1,017   (9,188)

Accounts media payments  (778   6,721

Client advances  1,636   (3,005)

Other accrued liabilities  2,181   1,714

Net cash used in operating activities  (31,911)   (26,755)

Cash flows from investing activities:      
Purchases of marketable securities  (39,850)   —

Capital expenditures  (664)   (37)

Intangibles assets acquired  (3,034)   —

Deposits for operating leases  (779)   —

Other  —   (100)

      Net cash used in investing activities  (44,327)   (137)

Cash flows from financing activities:      
Net proceeds from common stock offerings  56,468   —

Proceeds from exercise of Primary Warrant  29,263   —

Proceeds received under the Bridge Loan Agreement  8,000   —

Proceeds from issuance of convertible note payable  —   20,000

Proceeds from the exercise of stock options  131   77

Deferred common stock offering costs  —   (136)

Debt issuance costs  (68)   (168)

Other  (89)   —

Net cash provided by financing activities  93,705   19,773

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  17,467   (7,119)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year  12,078   19,197

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 29,545  $ 12,078

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information      
Cash paid during the periods for:      

Income taxes $ 6  $ 13

Non-cash investing and financing activities:      
Conversion of convertible notes payable, including accrued interest, to common stock $ 28,782  $ —

Conversion of redeemable convertible preferred stock to common stock $ 27,266  $ —

Unpaid deferred common stock offering costs $ 126  $ 316

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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VERITONE, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(in thousands, except share and per share data and percentages)

NOTE 1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Veritone, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Veritone”) (together with its wholly owned subsidiaries, collectively, the “Company”), is a provider of artificial
intelligence (“AI”) computing solutions. The Company has developed aiWARE™, a proprietary AI operating system that unlocks the power of cognitive computing
to transform audio, video and other unstructured data and analyze it in conjunction with structured data in a seamless, orchestrated and automated manner to
generate actionable intelligence. The Company’s aiWARE platform (“AI platform”) integrates and orchestrates an open ecosystem of best-of-breed cognitive
engines, together with a suite of powerful applications, to reveal valuable multivariate insights from vast amounts of structured and unstructured data. The
platform stores the cognitive engine results in a time-correlated database, creating an online, searchable index of audio and video data that enables analysis and
automated business solutions. Because of its open architecture, additional cognitive engines can be readily added to the platform, and new applications can be
added by the Company or third parties to leverage the platform for a broad range of industries that capture or use audio, video data and other unstructured data,
including, without limitation, media, legal, government, politics and other vertical markets.

In addition, the Company operates a full service advertising agency. The Company’s expertise in media buying, planning and creative development,
coupled with its proprietary technology platform, enables the Company to analyze the effectiveness of advertising in a way that is simple, scalable and trackable.

Veritone was incorporated as Veritone Delaware, Inc. on June 13, 2014 and changed its name to Veritone, Inc. on July 15, 2014. In July 2014, Veritone
merged with ROIM Acquisition Corp. (“RAC”), which owned all of the capital stock of ROIM, Inc. (“ROIM”). Veritone was the surviving corporation in the RAC
merger and ROIM became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Veritone following that merger. At that time, Chad Steelberg and Ryan Steelberg, who are brothers, were
the majority stockholders of Veritone, RAC and ROIM via direct or indirect ownership interests. Also, in July 2014, Veritone acquired all of the outstanding
membership interests in NextMedium, LLC (“NM”). Chad Steelberg and Ryan Steelberg indirectly owned the majority of the membership interests in NM. The
Company accounted for these transactions as mergers under common control based upon the guidance in ASC 805-50, so that the assets and liabilities of RAC,
ROIM and NM were recorded by the Company at their carryover basis.

Common Stock Offerings

Initial Public Offering

On May 17, 2017, the Company completed an initial public offering (“IPO”) of its common stock. In connection with the IPO, the Company sold 2,500,000
shares of its common stock at $15 per share for aggregate net proceeds of $32,580, after deducting underwriting discounts, commissions and offering costs of
$4,920.

Concurrent with the closing of the IPO, the following transactions were completed in accordance with the related agreements (see Notes 6 and 8 for
additional information):
 

(a) The Series B Preferred Stock, which had a liquidation preference of $18,668 and a net book value of $18,463, was automatically converted into 2,309,135
shares of the Company’s common stock;

 

(b) The Series A Preferred Stock, which had a liquidation preference of $8,598 and a net book value of $6,272, was automatically converted into 2,922,798
shares of the Company’s common stock;

 

(c) The Secured Convertible Promissory Note (the “Acacia Note”) payable to Acacia Research Corporation (“Acacia”), which had a principal balance of
$20,000 and accrued interest of $737, was automatically converted into 1,523,746 shares of the Company’s common stock;
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(d) The five-year warrant issued to Acacia in conjunction with the Acacia Note (the “Primary Warrant”) was automatically exercised by Acacia, which resulted
in the issuance of 2,150,335 shares of the Company’s common stock to Acacia in exchange for cash proceeds of $29,263, and upon exercise of the
Primary Warrant, the Company issued to Acacia a five-year warrant to purchase 809,400 shares of the Company’s common stock (the “10% Warrant”);

 

(e) Pursuant to the Note Purchase Agreement with Acacia and Veritone LOC I, LLC (“VLOC”) (collectively, the “Bridge Loan Lenders”), which provided for a
line of credit of up to $8,000 (the “Bridge Loan”), the Bridge Loan Lenders funded the remaining undrawn amounts under the Bridge Loan, which provided
cash proceeds of $4,000 to the Company. In connection with this funding, the Company issued to the Bridge Loan Lenders (a) an aggregate of 90,000
shares of its common stock, and (b) fully vested warrants to purchase 120,000 shares of common stock;

 

(f) The Bridge Loan, which had a principal balance of $8,000 and accrued interest of $45, was then automatically converted into an aggregate of 590,717
shares of the Company’s common stock; and

 

(g) The warrants to purchase an aggregate of 240,000 shares of the Company’s common stock that were issued in connection with the Bridge Loan were
automatically adjusted upon completion of the IPO to be exercisable to purchase an aggregate of 313,440 shares of the Company’s common stock
(which was equal to 1.5% of the fully diluted shares of common stock outstanding immediately following the closing of the IPO).

Follow-on Common Stock Offering

On November 21, 2017, the Company completed a follow-on public offering of its common stock. In connection with the offering, the Company sold an
aggregate of 1,121,250 shares of its common stock (which included the full exercise of the underwriters’ option to purchase additional shares) at $23 per share
for aggregate net proceeds of $23,762, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and offering costs of $2,027.

NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation and Preparation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). The
consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Veritone and all of its wholly owned subsidiaries. All intercompany accounts and transactions have
been eliminated. The consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes are the representations of the Company’s management, who is responsible for
their integrity and objectivity. In the opinion of the Company’s management, the consolidated financial statements reflect all adjustments, which are normal and
recurring in nature, necessary for fair financial statement presentation. The preparation of these consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in these consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes.
Actual results could differ materially from those estimates.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most
advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. Valuation techniques used to
measure fair value must maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The fair value hierarchy, which is based on three
levels of inputs, the first two of which are considered observable and the last unobservable, that may be used to measure fair value, is as follows:
 

 •  Level 1—Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
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•

 

Level 2—Inputs other than Level 1 that are observable, either directly or indirectly, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities;
quoted prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for
substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.

 

 
•

 
Level 3—Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or
liabilities.

The Company’s financial instruments, other than its marketable securities and stock warrants, consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents (including
money market funds), accounts receivable, accounts payable and convertible notes payable. The Company has determined that the carrying values of these
instruments for the periods presented approximate fair value due to their short-term nature and the relatively stable current interest rate environment.

Revenue Recognition

Media Agency

The Company’s media agency places advertisements for clients, primarily with radio broadcasters, podcasters and digital media producers. The Company
negotiates its commission rates with its clients. Under the most common billing arrangements, the Company bills clients for the gross costs of the advertisement,
which is set by the broadcaster, less any discounts based on negotiated commission rates. The Company remits to the broadcaster the gross amount less the
standard commission deducted by the broadcaster. The commission amount negotiated with the client is recorded by the Company as media agency revenue.
Media agency revenue is recognized when the advertisement is aired by the broadcaster in accordance with the client arrangement. Expenditures billable to
clients are comprised primarily of production and media costs that have been incurred, and the associated fees that have been earned by the Company, but that
have not yet been billed to clients.

The Company’s clients are often required to make a deposit or pre-pay the media advertising plan. Such amounts are reflected as client advances on the
Company’s consolidated balance sheets until all revenue recognition criteria have been met.

AI Platform

The Company derives its AI platform revenues from a variety of arrangements:

SaaS Agreements: The Company enters into software-as-a-service (“SaaS”) agreements with customers for access to and use of its AI platform. These
agreements typically have terms of one year, with renewal options and, in many cases, include the processing of a specified amount of data. The key terms of
these agreements include the applications and features of the platform that will be provided, the amount of data that will be processed, the number and classes
of cognitive engines that will be used to process the data, the number of licensed users, and the associated service fees. The service fees under these
arrangements are generally invoiced monthly in advance. The Company recognizes the net revenues under these arrangements ratably over the contract term.
In some cases, the amount of monthly service fees payable under a SaaS agreement represents a percentage of the total spend for advertisements that the
Company places on the customer’s broadcast network during the month. For these arrangements, the Company deducts the service fees earned from its
payment due to the broadcaster, and it recognizes the net revenues in the month in which the associated advertisements are aired.

Separate Processing Fees: The Company also provides cognitive processing through its platform to customers, either in addition to the amounts of
processing (if any) included in their SaaS agreements or under separate agreements, as and when processing of data is required by customers. Such processing
is performed at agreed upon rates (generally a rate per hour of media processed) based on the classes and numbers of cognitive engines used in processing the
data. The Company generally invoices processing fees on a monthly basis in arrears; however, certain customers may purchase a specified dollar amount of
processing in advance. The Company recognizes the net revenues for processing in the period(s) in which the processing is performed.
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Software Licenses: The hybrid version of the Company’s AI platform is installed on a third-party device that is sold to customers of the third party. The
software is licensed for a monthly fee, and such customers generally pay the fees for processing of their data separately. The Company records the net
revenues relating to the licenses of such software each month, commencing with the month in which the third party completes the installation of the hardware
device that contains the Company’s software.

In each of these arrangements, the Company recognizes revenue only when it has evidence that an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred, the fee is
fixed or determinable, and collection is reasonably assured. The Company’s customer contracts do not contain general rights of return. However, credits may be
issued to customers on a case-by-case basis.

In cases in which the Company’s SaaS offerings, software licenses and/or cognitive processing services are sold through independent third parties, such as
resellers and distributors, any discounts below standard prices that are provided to such third parties are reflected as reductions in net revenue.

Cash Equivalents and Marketable Securities

All highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less at the date of purchase are classified as cash equivalents. The Company’s marketable
securities have been classified and accounted for as available-for-sale securities. Management determines the appropriate classification of its investments at the
time of purchase and reevaluates the classifications at each balance sheet date. Marketable securities are classified as short-term based on their availability for
use in current operations. The Company’s marketable securities are carried at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses, net of income taxes, reported as a
component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in stockholders’ equity (deficit), with the exception of unrealized losses believed to be other-than-
temporary, which are reported in the Company’s consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss in the period in which such determination is
made. The cost of securities sold is based upon the specific identification method.

Accounts Receivable and Expenditures Billable to Clients

Accounts receivable consist primarily of amounts due from customers under normal trade terms. Allowances for uncollectible accounts are recorded based
upon a number of factors that are reviewed by the Company on an ongoing basis, including historical amounts that have been written off, an evaluation of current
economic conditions, and an assessment of customer creditworthiness. A considerable amount of judgment is required in assessing the ultimate realization of
accounts receivable.

The amounts due from clients based on costs incurred or fees earned that have not yet been billed to clients are reflected as expenditures billable to clients
in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Property, Equipment and Improvements

Property, equipment and improvements are stated at cost. Repairs and maintenance to these assets are charged to expense as incurred. Major
improvements enhancing the function and/or useful life of the related assets are capitalized. Depreciation and amortization are computed using the straight-line
method over the estimated useful lives (or lease term, if shorter) of the related assets. At the time of retirement or disposition of these assets, the cost and
accumulated depreciation or amortization are removed from the accounts and any related gains or losses are recorded to earnings.

The useful lives of property, equipment and improvements are as follows:
 

 •  Property and equipment — 3 years
 

 •  Leasehold improvements — 5 years or the remaining lease term, whichever is shorter
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The Company assesses the recoverability of property, equipment and improvements whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their
carrying value may not be recoverable. There was no impairment of property, equipment and improvements for the periods presented.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company reviews long-lived assets to be held and used, other than goodwill, for impairment at least annually, or whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. If an evaluation of recoverability is required, the estimated undiscounted future cash
flows directly associated with the asset are compared to the asset’s carrying amount. If the estimated future cash flows from the use of the asset are less than
the carrying value, an impairment write-down would be recorded to reduce the asset to its estimated fair value.

In March 2016, the Company stopped pursuing a pending patent application for technology it acquired in 2014, and as a result, it recorded a charge of $500
in general and administrative expenses in its consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss for 2016 to fully impair such acquired patent. No
impairment charges were recorded for the year ended December 31, 2017.

Asset Acquisitions

The Company follows the guidance in ASC 805,  Business Combinations , which establishes the principles and requirements for how an acquirer recognizes
and measures in its financial statements the identifiable assets acquired in a transaction that is not deemed to be a business combination. The Company
accounts for the consideration paid for asset acquisitions using the relative fair value method of accounting and accordingly, the acquired assets are recorded at
the allocated pro rata fair values at the date of acquisition. If the purchase price of the assets differs from the total fair value of the acquired assets, the
Company allocates the difference pro rata based on the relative fair values to increase or decrease the assigned value of the assets acquired, and such
acquisitions do not give rise to goodwill. Any amounts allocated to definite-lived intangible assets are amortized over their estimated useful lives and are tested
for impairment on an annual basis. Amounts allocated to indefinite-lived intangible assets are not amortized and are tested for impairment on an annual basis.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for stock-based compensation in accordance with ASC 718,  Compensation – Stock Compensation . Under the fair value
recognition provision of ASC 718, stock-based compensation expense is estimated at the grant date based on the fair value of the award. The Company
estimates the fair value of stock options, as well as purchase rights under the Company’s Employee Stock Purchase Plan, using the Black-Scholes-Merton
option pricing model. Prior to the Company’s IPO, the fair values of restricted stock awards were estimated at the date of grant by using both the option-pricing
method and the probability-weighted expected return method. Following the Company’s IPO, the fair values of restricted stock and restricted stock unit awards
granted by the Company are based on the closing market price of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant.

Determining the appropriate fair value of stock options at the grant date requires significant judgment, including estimating the volatility of the Company’s
common stock and expected term of the awards. The Company estimates volatility based on the historical volatility of the shares of publicly-traded peers of the
Company over the expected term, until sufficient information regarding the volatility of the Company’s shares of common stock becomes available. The expected
term represents the period of time that stock options are expected to be outstanding and is determined using the simplified method. The simplified method
defines the expected term as the average of the contractual term of the options and the vesting period for all tranches. The risk-free rate is based on the implied
yield of U.S. Treasury notes as of the grant date with a remaining term approximately equal to the expected term of the award.
 

10

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



Certain stock-based awards granted by the Company vest based upon the achievement of performance conditions established by the Compensation
Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors. Until the Company has determined that the performance conditions have been met, the amount of expense that
the Company records related to performance-based awards is estimated based on the likelihood of achieving the performance conditions. Estimated forfeitures
are also taken into account in determining the amount of expense recorded by the Company. The fair value of stock-based awards, adjusted for estimated
forfeitures (and adjusted for estimated or actual achievement of performance conditions in the case of awards having performance-based vesting conditions), is
amortized using the straight-line attribution method over the requisite service period of the award, which is generally the vesting period.

Tax benefits related to stock-based compensation are recognized as a reduction to deferred taxes until the related tax deductions reduce current income
taxes. When such event occurs, the tax benefits are then recognized through additional paid in capital. The Company allocates the tax benefits based on the
provisions in the tax laws that identify the sequence in which the amounts are utilized for tax purposes (see Note 11).

Advertising and Marketing Costs

Advertising and marketing costs are expensed as incurred and are primarily included in sales and marketing expenses in the Company’s consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive loss. Advertising and marketing costs include online and print advertising, public relations, tradeshows, and
sponsorships. For the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company recorded expense of $1,252 and $762, respectively, for advertising and
marketing costs.

Research and Development Costs and Software Development Costs

Research and development costs are expensed as incurred.

Costs related to the development of computer software to be sold, leased, or otherwise marketed are subject to capitalization beginning when a product’s
technological feasibility has been established and ending when a product is available for general release to customers. In most instances, the Company’s
products are released soon after technological feasibility has been established and, as a result, software development costs are expensed as incurred. No
software development costs were capitalized in 2017 or 2016.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are established for
temporary differences between the financial statement carrying amounts and the tax bases of the Company’s assets and liabilities using statutory tax rates
expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered.

The Company assesses the likelihood that the deferred tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income and, if recovery is not more likely than not,
the Company establishes a valuation allowance to reduce the deferred tax assets to the amounts expected to be realized. Realization of the deferred tax assets
is dependent on the Company generating sufficient taxable income in future years to obtain a benefit from the reversal of temporary differences and from net
operating losses.

The Company utilizes a two-step approach to recognizing and measuring uncertain tax positions. The first step is to determine whether the weight of
available evidence indicates it is more likely than not that the position will be sustained on audit, including resolution of related appeals or litigation processes. If
the first test is met, then the second step is to measure the tax benefit as the largest amount which is more than 50% likely of being realized upon ultimate
settlement. As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, no liabilities were required to be recorded related to tax positions taken.
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Debt Issuance Costs

The Company deferred and amortized fees paid in connection with the issuance of its convertible notes payable. These fees were amortized using a
method that approximates the effective interest method over the term of the related financing. The unamortized debt issuance costs were netted against the
principal amounts of the convertible notes payable.

Discounts for Debt and Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock

The Company amortized debt discounts over the term of the debt using a method that approximates the effective interest method. The Company amortized
discounts on its redeemable convertible preferred stock from the issuance date to the earliest redemption date using a method that approximates the effective
interest method.

Concentration of Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, marketable
securities and accounts receivable. The Company places its cash and cash equivalents with what management believes are quality financial institutions in the
United States and performs periodic evaluations of the relative credit standing of these financial institutions in order to limit the amount of credit exposure with
any one institution. At times, the value of the United States deposits exceeds federally insured limits. The Company has not experienced any losses in such
accounts. The majority of the Company’s marketable securities are managed by an investment management firm, under the oversight of the Company’s senior
financial management team. The portfolio manager invests the funds in accordance with the Company’s investment policy, which, among other things, limits the
amounts that may be invested with one issuer. Such policy is reviewed regularly by the Company’s senior financial management team and the Audit Committee
of the Company’s Board of Directors.

Two customers accounted for approximately 24% and 30% of the Company’s net revenues for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
These same customers accounted for $668 and $939 of the Company’s accounts receivable balance as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, which
accounts receivable included production and media costs and the Company’s related commissions.

Earnings Per Share

Basic and diluted net loss per common share is presented in conformity with the two-class method. Holders of Series B and A preferred stock were each
entitled to receive cumulative dividends at a rate of eight percent per year, payable prior to any dividends on the Company’s common stock. In the event a
dividend was paid on common stock, the holders of redeemable convertible preferred stock were entitled to a proportionate share of any such dividend as if they
were holders of common stock on an as-converted to common stock basis.

Under the two-class method, basic net loss per share attributable to common stockholders is computed by dividing the net loss attributable to common
stockholders by the weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding. Net loss attributable to common stockholders is calculated as net loss
less current period redeemable convertible preferred stock dividends and accretion. Diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders is computed
by dividing the net loss attributable to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding, including potential dilutive
shares of common stock assuming the dilutive effect of redeemable convertible preferred stock and outstanding stock options, warrants and restricted stock units
using the treasury stock method or if-converted method, whichever is more dilutive.
 

12

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



The following table presents the computation of basic and diluted net loss per common share:
 

       
  

Year Ended
December 31,

  2017  2016

Numerator:       
Net loss  $ (59,601)  $ (26,979)
Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred stock   (4,470)   (3,204)

       Net loss attributable to common stockholders  $ (64,071)  $ (30,183)
       Denominator:       

Weighted-average common shares outstanding   10,515,411   2,205,577
Less: Weighted-average shares subject to repurchase   (182,818)   (137,243)

       Denominator for basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common
stockholders   10,332,593   2,068,334

       Basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders  $ (6.20  $ (14.59)
       

The Company reported net losses attributable to common stockholders for all periods presented and, as such, all potentially dilutive shares of common
stock would have been antidilutive for such periods. The table below presents the weighted-average securities (in common equivalent shares) outstanding during
the periods presented that have been excluded from the calculation of diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders because their effect would
be anti-dilutive:
 

        
 

Year Ended
December 31,  

 2017   2016  
Common stock options and restricted stock units  3,148,931    680,437  
Warrants to purchase common stock  1,120,053    2,493,449  
Shares issuable upon conversion of the convertible note payable  —    1,490,651  
Redeemable convertible preferred stock  —    5,083,932  
        Total  4,268,984    9,748,469  
        

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts
with Customers (Topic 606)” (ASU 2014-09), which amends the existing accounting standards for revenue recognition. ASU 2014-09 is based on principles that
govern the recognition of revenue at an amount that the entity expects to be entitled to receive when products are transferred to customers. Subsequently, the
FASB has issued the following standards related to ASU 2014-09: ASU No. 2016-08, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Principal versus
Agent Considerations (ASU 2016-08); ASU No. 2016-10, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Identifying Performance Obligations and
Licensing (ASU 2016-10); and ASU No. 2016-12, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Narrow-Scope Improvements and Practical Expedients
(ASU 2016-12). The Company must adopt ASU 2016-08, ASU 2016-10 and ASU 2016-12 with ASU 2014-09 (collectively, the new revenue standards). The new
revenue standards may be applied retrospectively to each prior period presented or prospectively with the cumulative effect recognized as of the date of
adoption. The new revenue standards will be effective for the Company beginning in the first quarter of 2019. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of
adopting the new revenue standards on its consolidated financial statements.
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In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, “Leases (Topic 842).” The amendments under this pronouncement will change the way all leases
with duration of one year or more are treated. Under this guidance, lessees will be required to capitalize virtually all leases on the balance sheet as a right-of-use
asset and an associated financing lease liability or capital lease liability. The right-of-use asset represents the lessee’s right to use, or control the use of, a
specified asset for the specified lease term. The lease liability represents the lessee’s obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease, measured on a
discounted basis. Based on certain characteristics, leases are classified as financing leases or operating leases. Financing lease liabilities, those that contain
provisions similar to capitalized leases, are amortized in the same manner as capital leases are amortized under current accounting rules, as amortization
expense and interest expense in the statement of operations. Operating lease liabilities are amortized on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease as lease
expense in the statement of operations. This standard will be effective for the Company beginning the first quarter of 2020. The Company is currently evaluating
the impact this standard will have on its policies and procedures pertaining to its existing and future lease arrangements, disclosure requirements and on its
consolidated financial statements.

In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-09, “Compensation—Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment
Accounting (ASU 2016-09)”. The standard is intended to simplify several areas of accounting for share-based compensation arrangements, including the income
tax impact, classification on the statement of cash flows and treatment of forfeitures. This standard will be effective for the Company beginning in the first quarter
of 2018. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this standard on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-15, “Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230),” a consensus of the FASB’s Emerging Issues Task Force,” which
provides guidance intended to reduce diversity in practice in how certain transactions are classified in the statement of cash flows. This standard will be effective
for the Company beginning in the first quarter of 2019, with early adoption permitted. The Company does not expect the adoption of this new standard to have a
material impact on the Company’s consolidated statement of cash flows.

In May 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-09, “Compensation—Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Scope of Modification Accounting,” which amends the
scope of modification accounting for share-based payment arrangements. Under the standard, an entity should not apply modification accounting if the fair
value, vesting conditions, and classification of the awards are the same immediately before and after the modification. The current disclosure requirements in
Topic 718 still applies regardless of whether an entity is required to apply modification accounting under the amendments in this update. This standard will be
effective for the Company beginning in the first quarter of 2018. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this standard on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements.
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NOTE 3. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Marketable Securities

The Company’s money market funds and marketable securities are categorized as Level 1 and 2, respectively, within the fair value hierarchy. The following
table shows the cost, gross unrealized losses and fair value, with a breakdown by significant investment category, of the Company’s cash, cash equivalents and
marketable securities as of December 31, 2017:
 

                

  Cost  

Gross
Unrealized

Losses  
Fair

Value  

Cash and
Cash

Equivalents  
Marketable
Securities

Cash  $ 8,925  $ —  $ 8,925  $ 8,925  $ —
Level 1:                

Money market funds   20,620   —   20,620   20,620   —
Level 2:                

U.S. government securities   4,505   (17)   4,488   —   4,488
Commercial papers   4,959   (5)   4,954   —   4,954
Corporate debt securities   30,268   (112)   30,156   —   30,156

                Subtotal   39,732   (134)   39,598   —   39,598
                Total  $ 69,277  $ (134)  $ 69,143  $ 29,545  $ 39,598
                

As of December 31, 2016, the Company had a cash and cash equivalents balance of $12,078, which comprised of $9,922 in cash and $2,156 in money
market funds (Level 1).

As of December 31, 2017, the respective maturities of the Company’s marketable securities were as follows:
 

           Cost   Fair Value  
Due in one year or less  $ 26,004   $ 25,950  
Due after one year through five years   13,728    13,648  

Total  $ 39,732   $ 39,598  
         

The Company may sell certain of its marketable securities prior to their stated maturities for strategic reasons including, but not limited to, anticipation of
credit deterioration and duration management. As of December 31, 2017, the Company considered the declines in market value of its marketable securities to be
temporary in nature. The Company typically invests in highly-rated securities, and its investment policy generally limits the amounts that may be invested with
any one issuer. The policy generally requires investments to be investment grade, with the primary objective of minimizing the potential risk of principal loss. Fair
values were determined for each individual security in the securities portfolio.

Stock Warrants

The Company’s stock warrants are categorized as Level 3 within the fair value hierarchy. Stock warrants have been recorded at their fair value using a
probability weighted expected return model. This model incorporates contractual terms, maturity, risk free rates and volatility. The value of the Company’s stock
warrants would increase if a higher risk free interest rate were used, and the value of the Company’s stock warrants would decrease if a lower risk free interest
rate were used. Similarly, a higher volatility assumption would increase the value of the stock warrants, and a lower volatility assumption would decrease the
value of the stock warrants. The development and determination of the unobservable inputs for Level 3 fair value measurements and fair value calculations are
the responsibility of the Company’s management with the assistance of a third party valuation specialist.
 

15

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



The following table summarizes quantitative information with respect to the significant unobservable inputs used for the Company’s Primary Warrant that is
categorized within the Level 3 fair value hierarchy:
 

  December 31, 2016  
Volatility   80 %
Risk free rate   1.84 %
Discount for lack of marketability   20 %

The following table represents a reconciliation of the Level 3 measurement of the Company’s Primary Warrant:
 

Balance, December 31, 2016  $ 7,114
Change in fair value of warrant liability   (7,114)
Balance, December 31, 2017  $ —

The following table summarizes quantitative information with respect to the significant unobservable inputs used for the Company’s Acacia Note Warrants
that are categorized within the Level 3 fair value hierarchy as of December 31, 2016:
 

  First Tranche   Second Tranche  
Volatility   80 %   80 %
Risk free rate   1.61 %   1.68 %
Discount for lack of marketability   20 %   20 %

The total fair value of the Acacia Note Warrants in 2016 under Level 3 measurement was $507. In March 2017, in connection with the amendment of the
Acacia Primary Warrant, each of these warrants was amended to provide that the exercise prices thereof shall be equal to the lower of $13.6088 or the IPO price
per share. As a result, the following quantitative information was used to determine the fair value of the Company’s Acacia Note Warrants as of March 31, 2017:
 

  First Tranche   Second Tranche  
Volatility   65 %   65 %
Risk free rate   1.58 %   1.64 %
Discount for lack of marketability   10 %   10 %

The total fair value of the Acacia Note warrants under Level 3 measurement increased by $334 to $841.

In connection with the funding of the Bridge Loan, in March 2017, April 2017 and May 2017, the Company issued to the Bridge Loan Lenders warrants to
purchase shares of common stock. Such warrants were automatically adjusted upon completion of the IPO. The following table summarizes quantitative
information with respect to the significant unobservable inputs used for the Company’s Bridge Loan Warrants which were issued to the Bridge Loan Lenders in
March 2017, April 2017 and May 2017 that are categorized within the Level 3 fair value hierarchy:
 

     Volatility   70%  
Risk free rate   2.40%  
Discount for lack of marketability   10%  

The fair value of the Bridge Loan Warrants under Level 3 measurement was $6,534.

In May 2017, upon exercise of the Primary Warrant, the Company issued the 10% Warrant to Acacia.
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The following table summarizes quantitative information with respect to the significant unobservable inputs used for the Company’s 10% Warrant that is
also categorized as Level 3 within the fair value hierarchy:
 

       May 17, 2017  
Volatility   70 %
Risk free rate   1.44 %
Discount for lack of marketability   0 %

The fair value of the 10% Warrant under Level 3 measurement was $5,790.

NOTE 4. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

In December 2017, the Company acquired the advanced data analytics software and related intellectual property assets of Atigeo Corporation for total
consideration of $3,004. This acquisition adds proprietary machine learning capabilities to the Company’s growing body of technology and intellectual property in
data science and will help the Company further refine its conducted learning. The Company also acquired a domain name for consideration of $30 in 2017.

These definite-lived assets will be amortized over a period of three years. During 2017, the Company recorded amortization expense of $8 related to these
definite-lived assets. The following table summarizes the future estimated annual amortization expense for these assets over the next three years:
 

     

Years Ending December 31,  

Minimum
Annual

Amortization  

2018  $     1,011  
2019   1,011  
2020   1,004  

Total  $     3,026  

NOTE 5. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS DETAILS

Consolidated Balance Sheets Details

Property, Equipment and Improvements, Net

Property, equipment and improvements consisted of the following:
 

      
  

As of
December 31,

  2017 2016

Property and equipment  $ 378 $ 164
Leasehold improvements   27  12
Construction in progress   435  —
   840  176
Less: accumulated depreciation   (160)  (108)
      Property, equipment and improvements, net  $ 680 $ 68

The construction in progress balance at December 31, 2017 consisted primarily of expenditures related to the build out of office space at the Company’s
headquarters, which is expected to be completed in the first half of 2018. Depreciation expense was $52 and $32 for the years ended December 31, 2017 and
2016, respectively.
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Capitalized Software, Net

Capitalized software is presented in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets under other assets and consisted of the following:
 

       
  

As of
December 31,

  2017  2016

Capitalized software  $ 471  $ 471
Less: accumulated depreciation   (343)   (150)
       Capitalized software, net  $ 128  $ 321
       

Amortization expense related to capitalized software was $193 and $119 during the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. The account
balance of $128 at December 31, 2017 will be fully amortized in 2018.

Other Accrued Liabilities

Other accrued liabilities were comprised of the following:
 

         
  

As of
December 31,  

  2017   2016  
Accrued payroll and benefits  $ 3,117   $ 500  
Other accruals   1,325    2,560  
         Total  $ 4,442   $ 3,060  
         

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss Details

Net Revenues

Net revenues for the periods presented were comprised of the following:
 

         
  

Year Ended
December 31,  

  2017   2016  
Media agency revenues  $ 12,949   $ 8,404  
AI platform revenues   1,464    507  
         Total net revenues  $ 14,413   $ 8,911  
         

During the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company made $113,513 and $75,074 in gross media placements, of which $95,989 and
$64,923, respectively, were billed directly to customers. Of the amounts billed directly to customers, $83,040 and $56,519 represented media-related costs
netted against billings during the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
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Other Expense, Net

Other expense, net for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 were comprised of the following:
 

       
  

Year Ended
December 31,

  2017  2016

Interest expense  $ (4,236)  $ (3,890)
Interest income   211   6
Stock warrants issued   (5,790)   —
Write-off of deferred debt discounts and issuance costs   (10,132)   —
Gain on fair value change of warrant liability   7,114   950
Other   —   (259)
       Other expense, net  $ (12,833)  $ (3,193)

Interest expense, net for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 included amortization of deferred debt discounts and issuance costs of $3,740 and
$3,603, respectively, related to the Company’s convertible notes payable.

NOTE 6. CONVERTIBLE NOTES PAYABLE

Acacia Note

In 2016, the Company borrowed a total of $20,000 under the Acacia Note. The Acacia Note had an interest rate of 6.0% per year, with interest payable at
maturity in November 2017, and was secured by substantially all of the Company’s assets.

In conjunction with the Acacia Note, the Company issued to Acacia three four-year warrants (the Acacia Note Warrants) to purchase a number of shares of
the Company’s common stock that would be determined in the future depending upon a number of factors, including whether the Acacia Note was converted to
the Company’s common stock or repaid at maturity. The Company also issued to Acacia the Primary Warrant. Under the Primary Warrant, Acacia could
purchase shares of the Company’s common stock if certain events occurred in the future in an amount equal to $50,000 less the balance of the Acacia Note
principal and accrued interest.

The total fair value of the Acacia Note Warrants was $841 and was treated as a debt discount to the Acacia Note. The fair value of the Primary Warrant
was $8,064 and was treated as a warrant liability.

At the time of the Company’s IPO, the Acacia Note, which had a principal balance of $20,000 and accrued interest of $737, was automatically converted
into 1,523,746 shares of the Company’s common stock at a conversion price per share of $13.6088. As a result of the conversion of the Acacia Note, the
Company recorded a charge of $4,347, representing the unamortized balances of the debt discounts and debt issuance costs, which was presented as an
expense in other expense, net in the Company’s consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 2017.

Bridge Loan

In March 2017, the Company entered into a Note Purchase Agreement with the Bridge Loan Lenders, which provided for the Bridge Loan. The convertible
promissory notes issued to the Bridge Loan Lenders pursuant to the Bridge Loan accrued interest at the rate of 8% per annum, compounded quarterly. The
borrowings were due and payable on November 25, 2017, and the Company’s obligations under this facility were secured by a security interest in substantially all
of the assets of the Company, which was of equal priority to the security interests of Acacia under the Acacia Note. The Company drew down the initial $2,000
installment under the Bridge Loan
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upon the execution of the Note Purchase Agreement. In April 2017, the Company borrowed an additional $2,000 under the Bridge Loan. In May 2017, the
Bridge Loan Lenders funded the remaining undrawn amounts of $4,000 under the Bridge Loan, which increased the outstanding principal balance of the Bridge
Loan to $8,000.

Upon the execution of the Note Purchase Agreement, the Company issued an aggregate of 120,000 shares of the Company’s common stock to the Bridge
Loan Lenders in accordance with the agreement. In addition, in connection with the funding of the $8,000 principal amount of the Bridge Loan in March 2017,
April 2017 and May 2017, the Company issued to the Bridge Loan Lenders an aggregate of 180,000 shares of the Company’s common stock and warrants to
purchase an aggregate of 240,000 shares of common stock. Such warrants were automatically adjusted upon completion of the IPO to be exercisable to
purchase an aggregate of 313,440 shares of the Company’s common stock (which was equal to 1.5% of the fully diluted shares of common stock outstanding
immediately following the closing of the IPO).

The fair value of the common stock and warrants that were issued to the Bridge Loan Lenders in March 2017 and April 2017 totaled $3,664 and was
treated as a debt discount to the Bridge Loan.

Concurrent with the closing of the IPO on May 17, 2017, the $8,000 principal balance of the Bridge Loan and accumulated accrued interest of $45 were
automatically converted into an aggregate of 590,717 shares of the Company’s common stock at a conversion price per share of $13.6088. As a result of the
conversion of the Bridge Loan, the Company recorded a charge of $2,915, representing the unamortized balance of the debt discounts and debt issuance costs,
which was presented as an expense in other expense, net in the Company’s consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss for the year ended
December 31, 2017. In addition, upon the issuance of the additional common stock and warrants to the Bridge Loan Lenders upon the funding of the remaining
undrawn amounts of $4,000 under the Bridge Loan in connection with the IPO, the Company recorded charges of $1,100 and $1,770, related to such common
stock and warrants, respectively. Such amounts were presented as an expense in other expense in the Company’s consolidated statement of operations and
comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 2017 with a corresponding credit to additional paid-in capital in the Company’s consolidated balance
sheet.

The following table represents a reconciliation of the principal amounts of the Acacia Note to the convertible note payable presented in the Company’s
consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2016 (no balances were outstanding under the Acacia Note or Bridge Loan as of December 31, 2017):
 

    First Loan principal, August 15, 2016  $ 10,000
Second Loan principal, November 25, 2016   10,000
Debt discounts associated with stock warrants, net   (6,793)
Debt issuance costs, net   (105)
Accrued interest   286
    Convertible note payable  $ 13,388
    

NOTE 7. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Gain on Settlement of Insurance Claim

In December 2017, the Company entered into a settlement agreement and mutual release with the Company’s professional employer organization (“PEO”)
and the PEO’s employment practices liability insurer related to the Company’s claim for reimbursement of legal fees that it had incurred in defending a lawsuit
brought by a former employee. In the agreement, the insurer agreed to pay $400 to the Company in settlement of its claim, with the payment to be made within
14 days after the agreement’s effective date. Under ASC450-30, Gain Contingencies , a gain contingency should be recognized when realization is assured
beyond a reasonable doubt. As such, since the settlement payment was subsequently collected in full in January 2018, the Company
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recorded the gain as a credit to general and administrative expenses in its consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss for the year ended
December 31, 2017.

Employment Agreements

In March 2017, the Company entered into three-year employment agreements with each of Chad Steelberg, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, and
Ryan Steelberg, the Company’s President. Under the agreement with Chad Steelberg, as of the end of each calendar quarter during the term of the agreement
(following March 31, 2017) during which Chad Steelberg is still employed by the Company, the Company will issue to Mr. Steelberg a number of shares of its
common stock calculated by dividing $125 by the fair market value (as defined in the agreement) of the Company’s common stock. During the year ended
December 31, 2017, Chad Steelberg received 17,807 shares of common stock pursuant to this agreement. The agreement with Ryan Steelberg provides that he
shall receive an annual salary of $350.

Leases

On July 24, 2017, the Company entered into a Lease Agreement covering 38,875 square feet of office space for its corporate headquarters, with a term that
commenced on March 1, 2018 and will continue through December 2024. The effective base rental payments under this lease are approximately $114 per
month, and the Company also pays certain operating expenses relating to the space. Subject to meeting certain conditions, the Company has two options to
extend the term for additional periods of five years each, and has certain rights to lease other available space in the building.

In addition to its principal executive offices, the Company leases 7,965 square feet in San Diego, California pursuant to a lease that expires in August
2022. The total payments under this lease is approximately $21 per month.

As of December 31, 2017, future minimum lease payments were as follows:
 

     

Year Ending December 31,  

Minimum
Annual
Lease

Payments  

2018  $ 416  
2019   1,510  
2020   1,819  
2021   1,875  
2022   1,833  
Thereafter   3,137  
     Total  $ 10,590  
     

Rent expense totaled $866 and $588 for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

Other Contingencies

From time to time, the Company may be involved in litigation relating to claims arising out of its operations in the normal course of business. The Company
currently is not a party to any legal proceedings, the adverse outcome of which, in management’s opinion, individually or in the aggregate, would have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations, financial position or cash flows.

NOTE 8. REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK

In connection with the RAC and NM transactions, the Company issued 2,666,667 and 3,000,000 shares of Series A-1 preferred stock and Series A
preferred stock, respectively. In July 2014, the Company issued
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3,092,781 shares of Series B preferred stock at $4.85 per share for gross proceeds of approximately $15,000. In July 2016, all outstanding shares of Series A-1
preferred stock were converted on a one-for-one basis into shares of Series A preferred stock.

The Series B preferred stock was recorded at the amount of the cash received at the date the shares were issued, with an offset for stock issuance costs.
Stock issuance costs are amortized using a method that approximates the effective interest method over the term of the related financing. In the Company’s
consolidated financial statements, the value of the Series B Preferred Stock was accounted for as temporary equity and was increased each period by the
liquidation preference and by the amortization of the stock issuance costs over a five-year life, at which point the Series B preferred stock holders have the right
of redemption. The liquidation preference and the amortization of stock issuance costs were reflected as accretion of redeemable convertible preferred stock in
the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss and were accounted for as an increase to net loss attributable to common shareholders.

The Series A preferred stock, along with shares of the Company’s common stock, were issued to the holders of NM’s membership interests in exchange for
such interests. NM was under common control with the Company, and NM’s assets had a net book value of $1,500. Following the guidance of ASC 805-50, the
assets and liabilities of NM were recorded by the Company at their historical basis, and the Series A preferred stock and common stock issued to the holders of
NM’s membership interests were assigned values at the merger date based on the relative fair value of the preferred stock and common stock issued. The fair
value attributed to the Series A preferred stock was less than its original issue price of approximately $1.76 per share. The Series A preferred stock was
accounted for as temporary equity and was increased each period to reflect the increased liquidation preference and the amortization of the discount to the
original issue price over a five-year life, at which point the Series A preferred stockholders have the right of redemption. The liquidation preference and the
amortization of discount were reflected as accretion of redeemable convertible preferred stock in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive
loss and were accounted for as an increase to net loss attributable to common shareholders.

Each share of the redeemable convertible preferred stock had a liquidation preference equal to the applicable original issue price of each series, plus an
eight percent compounded annual return, subject to adjustment for stock dividends, splits, combinations, recapitalizations and the like with respect to such
shares. The preferred stock was redeemable at any time after July 15, 2019 if the holders of the minimum number of outstanding shares made that election. As
of December 31, 2016, the holders of Series B preferred stock had a liquidation preference over the holders of Series A preferred stock and common stock by
approximately $5.86 per share. As of December 31, 2016, the holders of Series A preferred stock had a liquidation preference over the holders of common stock
by approximately $2.14 per share.

The redeemable convertible preferred stock was convertible into the Company’s common stock at the option of the holders. Also, the redeemable
convertible preferred stock would automatically convert into the Company’s common stock upon a public offering with gross proceeds of at least $15,000. In the
conversion to common stock, the holders of the redeemable convertible preferred stock would receive one share of the Company’s common stock for each share
of redeemable convertible preferred stock multiplied by the share’s liquidation preference divided by its original issue price.

Concurrent with the closing of the IPO, the Series B preferred stock, which had a liquidation preference of $18,668 and a net book value of $18,463, was
automatically converted into 2,309,135 shares of the Company’s common stock, and the Series A preferred stock, which had a liquidation preference of $8,598
and a net book value of $6,272, was automatically converted into 2,922,798 shares of the Company’s common stock. The differences between the liquidation
preference and book value of the Series B and Series A preferred stock of $205 and $2,326, respectively, were recorded as accretion of redeemable convertible
preferred stock in the Company’s statement of operations and comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 2017 and an increase to additional paid-in
capital in the Company’s consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2017.
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For the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company recorded the amount of the beneficial conversion feature of the Series B and Series A preferred
stock amounting to $226 and $328, respectively, as the respective conversion prices for such shares were less than the fair market value of the underlying
preferred stock. The beneficial conversion feature resulted in the recording of a discount against the preferred stock and a corresponding credit to the Company’s
additional paid-in capital. For the year ended December 31, 2017, the aggregate amortization of the discount for the Series B and Series A preferred stock were
$67 and $96, respectively, and were presented as an addition to accretion of redeemable convertible preferred stock in the Company’s statement of operations
and comprehensive loss for that period. As a result of the conversion of the Series B and Series A preferred stock, the Company recorded the write-off of the
unamortized portion of the beneficial conversion feature of $159 and $232, respectively, as accretion of redeemable convertible preferred stock in the Company’s
statement of operations and comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 2017.

In May 2017, the Board of Directors and the stockholders of the Company approved the decrease in the Company’s authorized preferred stock from
11,500,000 shares to 1,000,000 shares (par value $0.001 per share), effective following the closing of the IPO and the filing of the Company’s amended and
restated certificate of incorporation.

NOTE 9. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)

Reverse Split

In April 2017, the Company’s Board of Directors and stockholders approved a 0.6-for-1.0 reverse split of the Company’s common stock, which was effected
on April 20, 2017 (the “Reverse Split”). In connection with the Reverse Split, each share of the Company’s issued and outstanding common stock was converted
and combined into 0.6 shares of common stock. No fractional shares were issued in connection with the reverse split, and any fractional shares resulting from
the Reverse Split were cashed out. The Company has reflected the effect of the Reverse Split in these consolidated financial statements as if it had occurred at
the beginning of the earliest period presented. As a result of the Reverse Split, the conversion price of each series of preferred stock was proportionally
increased.

Increase in Authorized Shares of Common Stock

In May 2017, the Company’s Board of Directors and stockholders approved the increase in the Company’s authorized common stock to 75,000,000 shares
from 38,500,000 shares (par value of $0.001 per share), effective following the closing of the IPO and the filing of the Company’s amended and restated
certificate of incorporation.

Issuances of Common Stock

During 2017, the Company issued a total of 13,538,080 shares of common stock, net of 22,243 shares of restricted stock forfeited by employees due to
termination of employment, 1,227 shares of common stock withheld in payment of taxes due by employees upon vesting of restricted stock, and 7,500 shares of
common stock repurchased by the Company, as follows:
 

 (a) 120,000 shares to the Bridge Loan Lenders upon execution of the Note Purchase Agreement in March 2017,
 

 (b) 90,000 shares in connection with the $2,000 Bridge Loan borrowings in March 2017 and April 2017,
 

 (c) 2,500,000 shares for the IPO,
 

 (d) 2,309,135 shares for the conversion of the Series B preferred stock upon the IPO,
 

 (e) 2,922,798 shares for the conversion of the Series A preferred stock upon the IPO,
 

 (f) 2,150,335 shares for the exercise of the Primary Warrant upon the IPO,
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 (g) 1,523,746 shares for the conversion of the Acacia Note and accrued interest upon the IPO,
 

 (h) 590,717 shares for the conversion of the Bridge Loan and accrued interest upon the IPO,
 

 (i) 90,000 shares in connection with the $4,000 Bridge Loan borrowing in May 2017,
 

 (j) 1,121,250 shares for the follow-on common stock offering in November 2017,
 

 (k) 6,000 shares of common stock issued to a consultant for services rendered, and
 

 (l) 145,069 shares issued under the Company’s Stock Plans.

Dispute Settlement

On December 23, 2016, the Company entered into a settlement agreement and release relating to certain claims by a former employee, pursuant to which
the Company paid to the former employee a lump sum cash payment of $350 on January 4, 2017, which included a payment to the former employee to
repurchase 7,500 shares of the Company’s common stock in the amount of $56, representing the fair value of such stock at that time. In connection with the
settlement, in 2016, the Company recorded $294 in general and administrative expense. In addition, pursuant to the agreement, Chad Steelberg, the Company’s
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer, purchased all of the former employee’s membership interests in BV16, LLC, a minority stockholder in the
Company.

Share Issuance to Existing Stockholders

In April 2016, the Company issued 961,835 shares of the Company’s common stock valued at $1.50 per share to an entity beneficially owned by the
Company’s Chief Executive Officer and President, who are also directors and indirect stockholders of the Company (the “Founders”). The shares were issued to
the Founders in consideration for services rendered to the Company in the first four months of 2016, and the Company recorded stock-based compensation
expense of $1,443 in the year ended December 31, 2016. In April 2016, the Company entered into an agreement with a stockholder who initially dissented to
the issuance of shares to the Company’s Founders. Pursuant to the agreement, the Company agreed to issue to such stockholder an aggregate of 106,420
shares of the Company’s common stock and paid to such stockholder an amount equal to an aggregate of $287, representing (i) the estimated taxes for the
shares to be issued to such stockholder and (ii) the reimbursement of certain legal fees. In addition, the Company has agreed to indemnify such stockholder for
any losses, damages and costs associated with certain matters related to the bankruptcy of the Company that owned ROIM, and for any additional taxes that
may be incurred by such stockholder in connection with the issuance to such stockholder of the foregoing 106,420 shares of common stock. In connection with
the issuance of these shares, the Company recorded an expense of $159, which was included in general and administrative expense for the year ended
December 31, 2016.

Common Stock Warrants

During 2017, the Company issued warrants to purchase 1,122,840 shares of common stock, as listed below:
 

               

Description  Vesting terms  Life in years   Exercise Price   

Number of
shares of

common stock  

10% Warrant  50% on issuance; 50% in May 2018   5   $ 13.6088    809,400  
Bridge Loan Warrants  Fully vested on issuance   10   $ 13.6088    313,440  
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During 2016, the Company issued warrants to purchase 2,552,068 shares of common stock, as listed below:
 

               

Description  Vesting terms  Life in years   Exercise Price   

Number of
shares of

common stock  

Acacia Note Warrants  Fully vested on issuance   4   $ 13.6088    154,311  
Acacia Primary Warrant  Fully vested on issuance   5   $ 13.6088    2,150,335  
Westwood One

 
Upon achievement of performance

condition   10   $ 8.0833    247,422  

The Acacia Primary Warrant was exercised in connection with the Company’s IPO. The warrant issued to Westwood One will vest upon the achievement of
a performance condition related to sales of licenses to the Company’s AI platform. As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, achievement of such performance
condition was not deemed probable and, therefore, no expense related to this warrant has been recorded in the Company’s consolidated statements of
operations and comprehensive loss for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016. As of December 31, 2017, the Company had a total of
1,524,573 warrants issued and outstanding.

NOTE 10. STOCK PLANS

Stock Incentive Plans

In 2014, the Company’s Board of Directors and stockholders approved and adopted the 2014 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan (the “2014 Plan”), which
was amended in March 2015, October 2016 and April 2017. The Plan provides that awards granted may be options, restricted stock or restricted stock units.
Stock option awards may be either incentive stock options or non-qualified options. Awards may be granted to eligible employees, directors and consultants
under the 2014 Plan. The Company’s Board of Directors has resolved not to make any further awards under the 2014 Plan following the completion of the
Company’s IPO. The 2014 Plan will continue to govern all outstanding awards granted thereunder.

In April 2017, the Company’s Board of Directors and stockholders approved and adopted the 2017 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2017 Plan”), which became
effective on May 11, 2017. Under the 2017 Plan, employees, non-employee directors, consultants and advisors may be granted options, stock appreciation
rights, stock awards and restricted stock units. The Company had initially reserved 2,000,000 shares of its common stock for issuance under the 2017 Plan. The
share reserve will increase automatically on the first trading day of January each calendar year, beginning with calendar year 2018, by an amount equal to 3% of
the total number of shares of common stock outstanding on the last trading day in December of the immediately preceding calendar year, up to an annual
maximum of 750,000 shares. As of December 31, 2017, an aggregate of 1,372,767 shares of common stock were available for future grant under the 2017 Plan.

The 2014 Plan and the 2017 Plan are collectively referred to herein as the “Stock Plans.” The Stock Plans are administered by the compensation
committee of the Board of Directors, which determines the recipients and the terms of the awards granted. All stock options granted under the Stock Plans have
exercise prices equal to or greater than the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the grant date, and expire ten years after the grant date,
subject to earlier expiration in the event of termination of the optionee’s continuous service with the Company.

Equity awards that have been granted under the Stock Plans to employees (with the exception the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and President) and
consultants generally vest over a period of four years (with certain limited exceptions), subject to the optionee’s continuous service with the Company. The
restricted stock units awarded to members of the Company’s Board of Directors under the automatic grant program provisions of the 2017 Plan vest over a
period of one year.
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In May 2017, the Company granted to the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, Chad Steelberg, and President, Ryan Steelberg, pursuant to the terms of
their employment agreements, (i) options to purchase an aggregate of 2,089,638 shares of the Company’s common stock, which are subject to time-based
vesting conditions, and (ii) options to purchase an aggregate of 1,044,818 shares of the Company’s common stock, which are subject to performance-based
vesting conditions. The exercise price of all such stock options is $15 per share, which was the IPO price of the Company’s common stock. The time-based
stock options vest in equal monthly increments over three years, subject to each executive’s continuous service with the Company, and subject to acceleration of
vesting under certain circumstances as set forth in the option agreements. The performance-based stock options were to vest upon the earlier of the first date on
which the market capitalization of the Company’s common stock equaled or exceeded $400,000 over five consecutive business days, or five years after the IPO.
In September 2017, the performance-based stock options vested in full, as the performance measure relating to the Company’s market capitalization was
achieved. Total stock-based compensation expense of $9,282 was recorded in 2017 for these performance-based stock options.

The shares of common stock issuable to Chad Steelberg on a quarterly basis in lieu of salary pursuant to his employment agreement are fully vested upon
issuance.

Stock-based Compensation

The Company recognizes stock-based compensation expense for awards granted under the Stock Plans ratably over the requisite service period, which is
generally the vesting period. The Company also recognizes stock-based compensation expense related to the Company’s Employee Stock Purchase Plan
(“ESPP”) ratably over each purchase interval.

The fair values of stock options and purchase rights under the ESPP are determined as of the grant date using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The
assumptions used in calculating the fair values of options granted during the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 are set forth in the table below:
 

     

  

Year Ended
December 31,

2017  

Year Ended
December 31,

2016

Expected terms (in years)  5.83 - 6.31  5.58 - 6.08
Expected volatility  52% -65%  55%% - 60%
Risk-free interest rate  1.79% - 2.20%  1.30% - 1.72%
Expected dividend yield  —  —

The assumptions used in calculating the fair values of purchase rights granted under the ESPP during the year ended December 31, 2017 are set forth in
the table below:
 

   

  

Year Ended
December 31,

2017

Expected term (in years)  0.50
Expected volatility  53%
Risk-free interest rate  1.15%
Expected dividend yield  —
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The Company’s stock-based compensation expense for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 totaled $16,089 and $1,730, respectively. The
stock-based compensation expense by type of award and by operating expense grouping are presented below:
 

        
  

Year Ended
December 31,

  2017   2016

Stock-based compensation expense by type of award:        
Restricted stock  $ 891   $ 151
Common stock awards   375    1,442
Restricted stock units   327    —
Stock options   14,391    137
Employee stock purchase plan   105    —
        Total  $ 16,089   $ 1,730
        Stock-based compensation expense by operating expense grouping:        
Sales and marketing  $ 438   $ 71
Research and development   464    31
General and administrative   15,187    1,628
        Total  $ 16,089   $ 1,730
        

In recognizing stock-based compensation expense related to equity awards under the Company’s Stock Plans for the years ended December 31, 2017 and
2016, the Company applied an estimated forfeiture rate of ten percent (10%) based on historical and estimated future turnover of the Company’s employees.

Restricted Stock

The Company’s restricted stock activity for the year ended December 31, 2017 was as follows:
 

         

  Shares   

Weighted
Average Grant
Date Fair Value  

Unvested at December 31, 2016   208,886   $ 4.80  
Granted   64,240   $ 15.47  
Forfeited   (22,241)   $ 8.42  
Vested   (103,429)   $ 8.50  
         Unvested at December 31, 2017   147,456   $ 6.30  
         

As of December 31, 2017, total unrecognized compensation cost related to restricted stock was $1,030, which is expected to be recognized over a period of
2.2 years. The weighted average grant date fair value per share of restricted stock granted was $15.47 and $4.71 for the years ended December 31, 2017
and 2016, respectively. The fair values of restricted stock vested during the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 totaled $2,185 and $243, respectively.
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Restricted Stock Units

The Company’s restricted stock units activity for the year ended December 31, 2017 was as follows:
 

       

  Shares  

Weighted
Average Grant
Date Fair Value  

Unvested at December 31, 2016  —  $ —  
Granted  35,576  $ 14.76  
Forfeited  —  $ —  
Vested  —  $ —  
Unvested at December 31, 2017  35,576  $ 14.76  

As of December 31, 2017, total unrecognized compensation cost related to restricted stock units was $197, which is expected to be recognized over a
period of 0.4 year.

Stock Options

The Company’s stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2017 was as follows:
 

             

  
No. of

Options  

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price  

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Term
(Years)  

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value

Outstanding at December 31, 2016   680,434  $ 2.27   8.49  $ 3,031
Options Granted   4,383,208  $ 15.27       
Options Exercised   (80,829)  $ 1.62       
Options Forfeited   (161,346)  $ 9.90       
Options Expired   (18,873)  $ 1.50       
Outstanding at December 31, 2017   4,802,594  $ 13.89   9.17   $44,712
Exercisable at December 31, 2017   1,805,482  $ 12.44   8.85   $19,433
Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2017   4,715,202  $ 13.87   9.17   $43,994

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table above represents the difference between the fair market value of the Company’s common stock and the average
option exercise price of in-the-money options multiplied by the number of such options. The weighted average grant date fair value per share of stock options
granted was $8.95 and $2.14 for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. The aggregate intrinsic value of the options exercised during the
years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 was $1,875 and $258, respectively. The total grant date fair value of stock options vested during the years
ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 was $13,094 and $95, respectively.

At December 31, 2017, total unrecognized compensation expense related to stock options was $23,408 and is expected to be recognized over a weighted
average period of 2.8 years.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In April 2017, the Company’s Board of Directors and stockholders approved and adopted the ESPP, which became effective on May 11, 2017. The ESPP is
administered by the compensation committee of the Board of Directors and is intended to qualify as an employee stock purchase plan under Section 423 of the
Code. The purchase price for shares of the Company’s common stock under the ESPP will be established by the plan
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administrator prior to the start of the offering period, but will not be less than 85% of the lower of the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on (i) the
date the eligible employee enters an offering period and (ii) the purchase date. Each purchase right granted to an employee will provide an employee with the
right to purchase up to 1,000 shares of common stock on each purchase date within the offering period. However, no employee will have the right to purchase
shares of the Company’s common stock in an amount that, when aggregated with the shares subject to purchase rights under all Company employee stock
purchase plans that are also in effect in the same calendar year, have a fair market value of more than $25, determined as of the first day of the applicable
offering period.

The Company has initially reserved 1,000,000 shares of its common stock for issuance under the ESPP. The share reserve will increase automatically on
the first trading day of January each calendar year, beginning with calendar year 2018, by an amount equal to 1% of the total number of shares of common stock
outstanding on the last trading day in December of the immediately preceding calendar year, up to an annual maximum of 250,000 shares. Accrued employee
contributions as of December 31, 2017 amounted to $253. As of December 31, 2017, no shares of common stock had been purchased by the Company’s
employees under the ESPP.

NOTE 11. PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES

The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “Tax Reform”) was enacted in December 2017. Among other things, the primary provision of the Tax Reform impacting the
Company is the reduction to the U.S. corporate income tax rate from 35% to 21%. The change in tax law required the Company to remeasure existing net
deferred tax assets using the lower rate in the period of enactment resulting in an income tax expense of approximately $10 million in the year ended
December 31, 2017. This expense was fully offset by a corresponding reduction in the Company’s valuation allowance. The Company has reported provisional
amounts for the income tax effects of the Tax Reform for which the accounting is incomplete but a reasonable estimate could be determined. There were no
amounts accounted for by the Company under the prior tax law for which the specific impact of the Tax Reform could not be reasonably estimated. Based on a
continued analysis of the estimates and further guidance on the application of the law, it is anticipated that additional revisions may occur throughout the
allowable measurement period.

The provision for income taxes consisted of the following for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016:
 

       
  

Year Ended
December 31,

  2017  2016

Current:       
Federal  $ —  $ —
State   6   6

       Total current   6   6
       Deferred:       

Federal   (7,216)   (6,658)
State   (1,210)   42

       Total deferred   (8,426)   (6,616)
       Change in valuation allowance   8,426   6,616
       Total deferred   —   —
       Provision for income taxes  $ 6  $ 6
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The significant components of the Company’s deferred income tax assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 were as follows:
 

       

  

As of
December 31,

2017  

As of
December 31,

2016

Deferred tax assets:       
Net operating loss carryforwards and credits  $ 13,844  $ 11,401
Stock-based compensation   3,416   —
Accrued expenses   445   301
Research credits   490   —
Other   83   66

          18,278   11,768
       Deferred tax liabilities:       

State taxes   —   —
Convertible note payable   —   (1,823)
Stock-based compensation   —   (94)

          —   (1,917)
       Valuation allowance   (18,278)   (9,851)
       Total deferred tax liabilities  $ —  $ —
       

The Company has evaluated the available positive and negative evidence supporting the realization of its gross deferred tax assets, including its cumulative
losses, and the amount and timing of future taxable income, and has determined it is more likely than not that the assets will not be realized. Accordingly, the
Company recorded a full valuation allowance as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 against its U.S. federal and state deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2017
and 2016. The Company’s valuation allowance increased by $8,426 and $6,616 during the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

As of December 31, 2017, the Company has federal and state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $62,036 and $61,807, respectively. The
U.S. federal and state net operating losses will begin to expire in 2034, unless previously utilized. In addition, the Company has federal and state research and
expenditure credit carryforwards approximately $200 and $200, respectively as of December 31, 2017. The federal research and expenditure credit will expire in
2026 if unused and the state research and expenditure credit may be carried forward indefinitely. Certain tax attributes may be subject to an annual limitation in
the event there has been or is a change of ownership as defined under Internal Revenue Code Section 382.

As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company’s pre-tax unrecognized excess tax benefits of $2,100 and $0, respectively, relating to stock-based
compensation were not included in the deferred tax assets and will create a benefit to additional paid-in capital when recognized.

The Company is subject to taxation in the United States and various states. Its U.S. federal tax returns and state returns are open for examination for tax
years 2014 and forward. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are currently under examination from tax authorities in the jurisdictions in which the
Company does business.
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The difference between the income tax expense at the federal statutory rate and the Company’s effective tax rate from the Company’s continuing
operations is as follows:
 

       
  

December 31,
2017  

December 31,
2016

Federal statutory rate   34.00%   34.00%
State income tax rate, net of Federal tax benefit   1.28   (0.14)
Mark to market adjustment on stock warrants   4.06   1.22
Meals and entertainment and other   1.67   1.16
Debt discount amortization   (2.42)   —
Loss on stock warrants issued   (3.30)   —
Loss on write-off of deferred debt discount   (5.78)   —
Change in valuation allowance   (12.61)   (36.22)
Rate change due to tax law change   (16.89)   —
       Effective tax rate   0.01%   0.02%
       

NOTE 12. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Two members of Acacia’s Board of Directors and one member of Acacia’s executive management are members of the Company’s Board of Directors. As a
result, Acacia is a related party and the transactions with Acacia described in Note 6 are related party transactions.

Chad Steelberg and Ryan Steelberg, who are executive officers of the Company, collectively own fifty percent of VLOC’s membership interests. VLOC is
one of the Bridge Loan Lenders, as described in Note 6. The Bridge Loan transactions described in Note 6 are related party transactions.

In March 2017, the Company entered into employment agreements with Chad Steelberg and Ryan Steelberg, who are executive officers of the Company.
See Note 7 for a discussion of these employment agreements.

As discussed in Note 9, in April 2016, the Company issued 961,835 shares of the Company’s common stock at $1.50 per share to an entity beneficially
owned by the Founders of the Company. The shares were issued to such entity in consideration for the services rendered to the Company by the Founders
during the first four months of 2016.

The Company reimbursed Chad Steelberg and Ryan Steelberg for the costs of their healthcare plans. During the years ended December 31, 2017 and
2016, the Company expensed $58 and $73 for the cost of such plans, respectively. As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company has an accrual of $0 and
$73, respectively, related to these healthcare plans.

In October 2014, the Company and Steel Ventures, LLC (“SVL”), an affiliated company whose beneficial owners have significant control over the Company,
entered into an Intercompany Administrative Services Agreement (the “Service Agreement”) effective October 1, 2014 for a two-year period, with two two-year
renewal options. Pursuant to the Service Agreement, SVL agreed to make its executive management, professional, technical and clerical employees available to
the Company to assist in the operation and administration of the Company’s business. In addition, SVL agreed to make other services available to the Company
through parties other than SVL’s personnel. In consideration for the above, SVL invoices the Company allocable costs based on a predefined allocation
methodology. During the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company incurred fees of $1,105 for services received under the Service Agreement. This
agreement expired by its term in September 2016 and so no fees were incurred under such agreement for fiscal 2017.

There were no other related party transactions as of December 31, 2017 and 2016.
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